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          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We are going to

          3  begin our hearing. My colleagues are on their way.

          4  We have many hearings going on.

          5                 Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

          6  Welcome to City Hall. Welcome to the City Council

          7  Chamber. My name is Domenic M. Recchia, Jr. I'm the

          8  Chair of the Cultural Affairs Committee. This is a

          9  joint hearing with Cultural Affairs and Economic

         10  Development. At this time I would like to recognize

         11  my colleagues who are here. Annabel Palma from the

         12  Bronx. Council Members will be coming in and out. We

         13  have many hearings going on so it's a busy day here.

         14  We will keep on introducing everyone.

         15                 Today's oversight hearing will be

         16  focused on the vital cultural life in the outer

         17  boroughs and talk about the cultural communities,

         18  tourism, and what's going on in Manhattan and in the

         19  outer boroughs, how we are dealing with these

         20  issues, how we are getting more people to visit and

         21  promote our outer boroughs, and also to work with

         22  NYC and Company in expanding these issues. We will

         23  hear from the Commissioner Kate Levin, who will tell

         24  us what's going on from the Administration's point

         25  of view, but also to enhance the economic impact of
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          2  cultural tourism throughout New York City. You know,

          3  a lot of times people say, but, you know, everything

          4  is in Manhattan. Well, today we're talking about not

          5  only Manhattan, we're talking about the whole City,

          6  the outer borough, and how we could work better and

          7  maybe introduce some new initiatives in next year's

          8  budget, and to see how we can work with the

          9  communities to foster tourists to go to all of our

         10  beautiful tourism places throughout New York City.

         11                 Through our past hearings the

         12  Committee has had an opportunity to study in-depth

         13  and numerous disciplines and enrich our City's

         14  vibrant cultural community, and the needs that such

         15  disciplines must have fulfilled in order to survive

         16  and thrive. I will now ask the Commissioner, Kate

         17  Levin, to please have a seat. And before I ask you

         18  to proceed forward, I would just like to introduce,

         19  we have been joined by Council Member Jimmy Vacca

         20  from the Bronx. The Bronx is in the house. Okay, if

         21  NYC and Company would like to also go up? Donna?

         22  That might be a good idea so we can hear one. What

         23  we'll do, we'll hear from the Commissioner, then

         24  from NYC and Company, and then we'll ask our

         25  questions after everyone has spoken and given us the
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          2  testimony.

          3                 So, Commissioner, if you would like

          4  to begin.

          5                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Thank you. Thank

          6  you, Councilman. Good afternoon. I'm Kate Levin,

          7  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

          8  Cultural Affairs, and I'm here to testify on the

          9  topic of today's hearing, Cultural Tourism Outside

         10  Manhattan.

         11                 Long-term investment in arts and

         12  culture have a profound effect on the City's quality

         13  of life in livening neighborhoods, keeping crime

         14  down and attracting residences, businesses and

         15  retail establishments, the elements essential for

         16  attracting tourists.

         17                 Tourism is one of New York's fastest

         18  growing industries and is critical to the City's

         19  economic development strategy. The non-profit

         20  cultural sector anchors New York City's tourism

         21  industry and we know that cultural tourism has a

         22  powerful economic ripple effect.

         23                 According to the Alliance for the

         24  Arts, the City's 1,400 non-profit cultural

         25  organizations generate $5.8 billion in economic
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          2  impact annually, and tourists who come explicitly

          3  for culture generate another 5.4 billion.

          4                 These are conservative figures that

          5  don't include tourists who come for other reasons

          6  and visit a cultural organization while they're in

          7  town. My colleague, Donna Keren of NYC and Company,

          8  will speak to specific City-sponsored marketing

          9  surveys and initiatives designed to encourage and

         10  attract tourism to cultural destinations outside of

         11  Manhattan.

         12                 I'd like to focus on how the

         13  Department of Cultural Affairs' support for

         14  non-profit culture helps to create dynamic

         15  organizations that attract tourists from across

         16  neighborhoods, boroughs, United States and the

         17  world, contributing to the City's quality of life

         18  and economic prosperity.

         19                 I'd like to start by sharing the

         20  broadened definition of tourism that I'm using

         21  today. Our experience demonstrates that it is the

         22  authenticity and breadth of New York's cultural

         23  offerings that make the City a home for artists and

         24  attractive to local and inter-borough visitors, as

         25  well as destination tourists with deep pockets. This
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          2  agency is committed to supporting cultural endeavor

          3  at every scale and organizations of every size.

          4                 Not all of our cultural constituents

          5  will attract out-of-town visitors, nor should they.

          6  They're nonetheless essential to the City's cultural

          7  ecology, and play a significant role in enhancing

          8  New York's tourism profile.

          9                 High quality programming creates the

         10  strongest possible incentive for visitors of every

         11  stripe. Under the new cultural development fund

         12  process initiated by the Mayor and Speaker Quinn,

         13  with your leadership, DCA has dramatically expanded

         14  merit-based funding and created new fiscal stability

         15  for organizations in all boroughs.

         16                 Our goal has been to reward

         17  excellence, create access and ensure accountability

         18  across the Board. As part of this process, DCA has

         19  increased its competitive grant pool from $3.7

         20  million to 24.6 million in all boroughs. In the

         21  current year we funded 18 percent more applicants

         22  and provided 40 percent more funding to

         23  organizations in boroughs other than Manhattan. We

         24  added funding panels in both Brooklyn and Queens,

         25  due in part to the burgeoning applicant pool. We
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          2  also more than doubled DCA's regrant funds to

          3  artists through the Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens and

          4  Staten Island Borough Arts Councils.

          5                 DCA has a current commitment of $1.4

          6  billion over the next four years for capital

          7  projects designed to not only sustain long-standing

          8  audiences, but grow and attract new ones.

          9                 Since 2000, DCA has almost quadrupled

         10  the number of organizations receiving capital

         11  support in boroughs other than Manhattan. This

         12  strategy is working with attendance at the

         13  City-owned cultural institutions in Brooklyn, the

         14  Bronx, Queens and Staten Island, up eight percent

         15  since 2004. Some organizations have seen an even

         16  more dramatic increase, thanks in part to

         17  City-funded capital effects designed to attract and

         18  retain new audiences.

         19                 For example, in Queens the City

         20  committed more than $53 million to the New York Hall

         21  of Science new wing matched by $38 million in

         22  private funding. Since opening in November 2004, the

         23  Hall's upgraded galleries, education spaces and

         24  visitor amenities have helped boost overall

         25  attendance by 72 percent.
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          2                 Today the Hall reports that

          3  attendance from outside New York City has increased

          4  from seven percent to 13 percent, and interborough

          5  attendance is also up. Manhattan attendance, for

          6  example, has grown from ten percent to 18 percent of

          7  total visitors.

          8                 In Brooklyn the City invested $51.7

          9  million in the Brooklyn Museum's $63 million new

         10  entrance pavilion. Since 2004, the Museum's frontage

         11  on Eastern Parkway has turned into a popular

         12  gathering place for residents and tourists alike.

         13                 In combination with outreach efforts

         14  and world class programming, these efforts have

         15  boosted attendance 12 percent, with 35 percent of

         16  visitors from outside New York City. Even

         17  substantial renovation can make an enormous

         18  difference when combined with creative marketing and

         19  high caliber programming.

         20                 For example, the City committed $14.8

         21  million towards PS 1's $15.6 million facade

         22  restoration, which immediately boosted 2004

         23  attendance by 23 percent. Initial attendance

         24  spikes   are generally followed by slight follow-ups

         25  in subsequent years, but PS 1 has maintained its
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          2  high visitation levels through a combination of

          3  innovative marketing and programming that includes

          4  the summer warm-up series, the debut of radio

          5  station PS 1, a new information desk for visitors,

          6  outreach to the Chinese language press and cross

          7  marketing through its MoMA affiliation.

          8                 By Fiscal 2006, fully one-third of PS

          9  1's audience was from outside of New York City, half

         10  international and half domestic. Other recent DCA

         11  capital projects intended to sustain and grow

         12  cultural audiences include the Wave Hill Visitors

         13  Center, funded with $5 million in support from the

         14  City, the Queens Botanic Garden Visitor Center,

         15  which just opened, receiving $22 million in support,

         16  and on Staten Island DCA has committed more than $7

         17  million to rebuild and restore historic Richmond

         18  Town, helping the organization work towards its

         19  potential as a regional tourist destination.

         20                 DCA is also helping to grow audiences

         21  for cultural organizations in boroughs other than

         22  Manhattan through collaborations with EDC, HPD,

         23  Department of Small Business Services, and, of

         24  course, the City Council. We are working to identify

         25  and strengthen cultural neighborhoods ensuring that
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          2  culture plays a key role in a host of development

          3  projects, such as Coney Island, Fort Greene, Hunts

          4  Point and Fresh Kills. In Fort Greene, for example,

          5  DCA is working with a variety of partners to create

          6  a unique and vibrant complex of performing and

          7  rehearsal spaces that will enhance the existing work

          8  of arts organizations, like the Brooklyn Academy of

          9  Music, Urban Glass and Brick which have long served

         10  the community. Within a few years, this district may

         11  become one of the world's most exciting cultural

         12  destinations.

         13                 On Staten Island, we've assisted the

         14  Staten Island Borough President in the development

         15  of Staten Island attractions, a magazine that will

         16  be available to 1.5 million tourists who ride the

         17  Staten Island Ferry each year.

         18                 Cultures at the forefront of Staten

         19  Island marketing initiatives, which encourage

         20  out-of-town visitors to explore the cultural

         21  attractions that lie beyond the St. George Ferry

         22  Terminal. In addition to our work with our partners

         23  in government, DCA is encouraging collaborative

         24  marketing efforts among cultural organizations.

         25                 For example, we've worked with the
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          2  Long Island City Business Development Corporation to

          3  help form the Long Island City Cultural Alliance.

          4  The Alliance brings together six organizations, the

          5  Dorsky Gallery, Fisher Landau, the Noguchi Museum,

          6  P.S. 1, Socrates Sculpture Park and Sculpture

          7  Center, to coordinate joint marketing and

          8  transportation signage.

          9                 Evidence indicates that these

         10  marketing efforts, combined with high-quality

         11  programming, are helping to spur new audience

         12  development. For example, the Chocolate Factory, an

         13  associate of the Alliance, attributes recent

         14  increases and attendance to both collaborative

         15  marketing and its own signature annual program, The

         16  Taste of Long Island City, which leverages a growing

         17  public perception of Long Island City as a cultural

         18  destination.

         19                 Neighborhood marketing and high

         20  quality programming build on each other to create a

         21  cultural energy that draws local residents and

         22  visitors alike. Collective marketing and programming

         23  efforts have also driven economic growth in the

         24  Bronx. The Bronx Council on the Arts Bronx Trolley

         25  circles the SoBro cultural cluster the first
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          2  Wednesday evening of each month, bringing visitors

          3  to Pregones Theater, the Bronx Museum of the Arts

          4  and private galleries. The Center for an Urban

          5  Future reports that ridership has increased 31

          6  percent since 2003 and fully one-third of riders are

          7  from outside the borough. More than half of all

          8  riders visit more than one cultural organization and

          9  patronize local restaurants and cafes along the way.

         10                 In addition to collaborating with

         11  cultural organizations and intergovernmental

         12  colleagues, DCA has developed signature initiatives

         13  to drive attendance to all cultural organizations

         14  throughout the five boroughs.

         15                 For example, DCA is partnering with

         16  WQXR to run a series of 20-second promotional spots

         17  that air daily in regular rotation, and a regular

         18  "Commissioner's Picks" segment. Our data indicates

         19  that more than 270 cultural organizations have

         20  received on-air publicity and more than 6,000 public

         21  service announcements have been broadcast over

         22  WQXR's open airwaves.

         23                 Organizations such as the Staten

         24  Island Ballet tell us that inquiries and attendance

         25  increase as a direct result of this initiative. DCA
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          2  has also recently revamped its website, which

          3  features Commissioner's Picks with links to the

          4  relevant cultural groups, and "Find a Cultural

          5  Organization" section which allows users to search

          6  by borough and discipline. This information is also

          7  available to 3-1-1 callers. We look forward to

          8  continued collaboration with NYC And Company and all

          9  of our promotional efforts.

         10                 And in closing, we're looking forward

         11  to working with the Council to sustain and promote

         12  the rich array of cultural organizations in member

         13  districts. I would like to thank Council Member

         14  Recchia, Council Member White and all the members of

         15  both committees for their continued support for New

         16  York City's nonprofit cultural community.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you,

         19  Commissioner. Before we hear from NYC And Company, I

         20  would just like to recognize Daniel Garodnick from

         21  Manhattan, Majority Leader Leroy Comrie from Queens,

         22  they have now joined us.

         23                 NYC And Company.

         24                 DR. KEREN: Good afternoon, Chairman

         25  Recchia, Council members. My name is Donna Keren. I
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          2  am Senior Vice President at NYC And Company, the

          3  City's official tourism and marketing organization.

          4  Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you this

          5  afternoon.

          6                 Working with our members, with the

          7  Department of Cultural Affairs, with the Council,

          8  with Borough Presidents Offices and Tourism Offices,

          9  NYC And Company creates advertising and promotional

         10  marketing campaigns, as well as events and cultural

         11  programming to increase the number of visitors to

         12  the City and to encourage them to spend more time

         13  and more money when they are here. And time converts

         14  to their ability to visit more organizations and do

         15  more things in a broader base of the City.

         16                 Tourism generating nearly $25 billion

         17  in spending in the City, we believe the tremendous

         18  diversity and extraordinary scope of the City's

         19  cultural resources offer one of the greatest

         20  opportunities to expand the economic impact the

         21  visitors spend across the whole City. In addition to

         22  supporting the cultural and performing arts

         23  organizations directly, visitor spending supports

         24  small and large local businesses and jobs throughout

         25  all five boroughs.
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          2                 In 2006, New York City welcomed

          3  nearly 44 million visitors, proving that New York is

          4  still seen as one of the world's best destinations.

          5  Without a doubt, attending a New York City cultural

          6  organization is among the most popular activities

          7  for all types of visitors. The need to eat is the

          8  only activity that engages more of them.

          9                 Cultural visitors account for 43

         10  percent of all visits to New York City. That is

         11  almost 19 million people a year. They include both

         12  domestic and international tourists, business and

         13  leisure visitors, New York City And Company does not

         14  specifically keep records of attendance and I know

         15  that the Alliance is here and Kate talked about

         16  this, but we believe that a significant number of

         17  City visitors, especially those from overseas, visit

         18  museums, theaters, dance and concerts located in

         19  boroughs other than Manhattan.

         20                 It's also important to remember that

         21  11 million of that 44 visitors a year are actually

         22  people who are here to visit friends and relatives,

         23  most of whom live in Brooklyn, Queens, the Bronx and

         24  Staten Island, and those of us who live in one-room

         25  apartments in Manhattan can tell you we have no room
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          2  for 11 million visitors.

          3                 When they're in the other boroughs,

          4  like their friends and family who live there, they

          5  center most of their activities in the borough in

          6  which they're staying. Museums in historic sites are

          7  especially popular with this group.

          8                 What NYC And Company research,

          9  however, has shown is that all cultural tourism is a

         10  highly effective way to leverage the 25 billion in

         11  spending throughout the entire City, because that

         12  spending, whether it's on restaurants,

         13  entertainment, accommodation or transportation helps

         14  create jobs for New Yorkers. The direct and indirect

         15  impact of visitors spending, generated over $13

         16  billion in wages last year.

         17                 Promoting the cultural community and

         18  the Citywide offerings and programs is a major

         19  objective of the newly reorganized and expanded NYC

         20  And Company, and one of the fundamental goals of the

         21  separate NYC And Company foundation.

         22                 Too often when people, even locals,

         23  think about New York City for tourists, they focus

         24  on Broadway, Central Park, Statue of Liberty,

         25  museums of shops in Manhattan or the Empire State
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          2  Building.

          3                 NYC And Company is committed to the

          4  idea that New York City's authentic experience can

          5  be felt throughout all five boroughs in the City and

          6  that we will market every bit of what each borough,

          7  Brooklyn, Bronx, Manhattan, Queens and Staten Island

          8  has to offer.

          9                 New York City and Company's

         10  international presence are 11 representative offices

         11  covering 19 countries, is an important tool in this

         12  effort, as is the new brand campaign.

         13                 Given the vast cultural landscape

         14  that is New York City, NYC And Company is able to

         15  create seasonal and special events and what we call

         16  umbrella programs. To market and promote the

         17  cultural scene for residents and visitors alike.

         18                 Let me sketch just a few examples of

         19  this synergy.

         20                 Just last weekend, October 13th and

         21  14th, New York City's non-profit cultural community

         22  and tens of thousands of people gathered for Culture

         23  Fest New York City 2007 produced by NYC And Company

         24  Foundation and supported by the Merrill Lynch

         25  Foundation. The two-day gathering is the kickoff
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          2  event of the City's cultural season.

          3                 This is an absolutely unique New York

          4  City event with an unprecedented 125 non-profit

          5  cultural organizations and performers based in all

          6  five boroughs who were able to showcase their

          7  programs, their events and activities, to one of the

          8  largest audiences we have had at Culture Fest and

          9  two absolutely glorious fall days in historic

         10  Battery Park.

         11                 You have in my testimony the program

         12  and list of organizations, just to give you an idea

         13  of the scope.

         14                 On behalf of the NYC And Company

         15  Foundation, and all of the participants and families

         16  who attended, we also want to acknowledge the

         17  generous support that the event receives from the

         18  City Council Cultural Affairs. Thank you, Chairman

         19  Recchia, and members of the Committee. It really

         20  does make a difference.

         21                 A second example comes from a regular

         22  NYC And Company Program, again, an umbrella program,

         23  each month we spotlight a specific cultural

         24  organization of the month to increase awareness and

         25  visibility and drive traffic to that organization
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          2  with special web links, visibility at the NYC And

          3  Company Official Visitor and Information Center in

          4  Midtown, a feature in our newsletter and targeted

          5  press promotional support.

          6                 Since the program's inception in

          7  1999, borough cultural organizations have been

          8  featured over 300 times.

          9                 For 2007 so far the list of

         10  organizations includes the Brooklyn Botanic Garden,

         11  the New York Botanical Garden, P.S. 1, and the

         12  Staten Island Sampler of nine cultural

         13  organizations.

         14                 Additionally, the Culture Finder Map,

         15  which some of you may be familiar with, has just

         16  been reissued. It's bigger and better and covers

         17  more arts organizations in all five boroughs. It is

         18  distributed at the arts organizations, it was

         19  distributed at Culture Fest. If anybody wants it,

         20  please just let me know. I'm happy to have you

         21  distribute it forth, and you should keep one for

         22  yourself. It lists the cultural organizations, their

         23  contact information, and travel directions and

         24  timing, and aimed at tourists and Manhattanites, it

         25  gives the directions from either Grand Central or
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          2  Times Square, and proves that you can get to most of

          3  these organizations in under 30 minutes on mass

          4  transit. So, they're very close to where the

          5  majority of visitors are.

          6                 The NYC And Company website also

          7  hosts destination links for all of our cultural

          8  members and that website is growing in its scope and

          9  inclusion of organizations and destinations all over

         10  the City. Now with the launch of the global

         11  advertising campaign, we invite visitors to log onto

         12  NYC Visit.com and create their own itineraries for

         13  visiting New York City.

         14                 Also on line is the Calendar of

         15  Events, that's open to any organization that chooses

         16  to list on it, and it is one of our most popular

         17  pages with both residents and visitors.

         18                 Given the constraints on marketing

         19  funds available to most of the City's cultural

         20  organizations, these Citywide umbrella programs

         21  could significantly expand the outreach and

         22  effectiveness of the organization's marketing

         23  messages to visitors and residents alike.

         24                 And I have one last message for all

         25  of you. The Council certainly has long acknowledged
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          2  the many ways the performing arts and cultural

          3  tourism bring economic development to different

          4  communities. We encourage you to be part of this

          5  effort with us. Please highlight the cultural

          6  resources, arts districts, museums, galleries, zoos,

          7  gardens, performing companies, theaters, festivals,

          8  cultural and ethnic heritage sites in your district

          9  and home borough. You know firsthand the richness of

         10  the cultural community, and you should share that

         11  knowledge and enthusiasm wherever and whenever you

         12  can.

         13                 And some of you may be familiar with

         14  our Just Ask, the local campaign. This is our

         15  attempt to prove that New York is one of, if not the

         16  friendliest city, and it highlights boroughs and

         17  destinations all around New York.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Before we begin,

         21  I'd just like to recognize we've been joined by

         22  Council Member Vincent Gentile from Brooklyn, Eric

         23  Gioia from Queens, Al Vann from Brooklyn, Dan

         24  Garodnick.

         25                 Okay, before I have my colleagues
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          2  start asking some questions, I'd just like to start

          3  off with a few questions. First of all, I just have

          4  to comment, Culture Fest is, for my colleagues who

          5  have never been there, it's a great experience and

          6  really promotes all of our wonderful cultural

          7  community and the arts theater. And just to explain,

          8  for my colleagues who are not fully aware of this,

          9  basically it's a day in Battery Park where all the

         10  institutions that are part of NYC And Company; is

         11  that correct?

         12                 DR. KEREN: Currently they are

         13  members, yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: They are

         15  members. And they are given a free booth?

         16                 DR. KEREN: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: To come and set

         18  up and just expose themselves as people come to this

         19  beautiful festival to see what goes on in New York

         20  City. And the attendance has just been growing every

         21  year. It's a fantastic event, and it's something

         22  that it's basically free publicity.

         23                 DR. KEREN: Totally free. And it's so

         24  fresh I really don't even have our visitor numbers

         25  yet. We don't even have our research back, but we
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          2  heard from many of the organizations, and I know

          3  some of the borough tourism people are here and they

          4  were present. We heard from several organizations

          5  that they had handed out all of the materials before

          6  Saturday was over and had to go back to the

          7  organization and restock for Sunday.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Could you tell

          9  us what, because this is very important, what did

         10  you do to promote Culture Fest in the outer

         11  boroughs?

         12                 DR. KEREN: Advertising for Culture

         13  Fest appears in neighborhood newspapers all over the

         14  City, particularly in the other boroughs where you

         15  have community papers. We did a great deal of web

         16  publicity. We worked with a number of public

         17  relations agencies that target the Hispanic

         18  community, the African-American community, to raise

         19  awareness of this, because so many of these

         20  organizations are grassroots community based, and we

         21  also worked with the Department of Education this

         22  year to inform teachers and parents that Culture

         23  Fest was this free event with many, many interactive

         24  opportunities for the kids to learn and experience

         25  art, and I have to signal the Queens groups who had
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          2  probably the best kid-friendly thing --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, Hall of

          4  Science.

          5                 DR. KEREN: You would write on

          6  someone. You could just decorate this poor man who

          7  is standing there, and you couldn't get near them.

          8  And I hear people are borrowing this idea.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is just one

         10  of the events that we have.

         11                 But as far as getting the tourist,

         12  okay, before, Commissioner, you spoke that in Staten

         13  Island you put together this magazine with the

         14  Borough President, right? Do you do that in every

         15  borough, or just in Staten Island?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: That was

         17  initiated by the Staten Island Borough President's

         18  Office. Ed Burke has been working on this for a

         19  number of years. We've done everything we can to try

         20  and assist him in doing it, but the initiative was

         21  the Staten Island Borough Presidents.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And the results?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: A beautiful

         24  magazine. I just got a copy last week, and it's

         25  going to be distributed on the ferry, I think, and
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          2  in various other venues on the Island.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And in Staten

          4  Island, you know, one of the biggest complaints that

          5  I hear is that when people get off the ferry, they

          6  don't know where to go. It's a signage problem.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Well, the new

          8  Staten Island Ferry now has a booth for visitors on

          9  both the Staten Island and the Manhattan side, so

         10  there's finally the physical space to try and help

         11  promote tourism, but it is an issue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And what are we

         13  doing about trying to rectify that? Is there a way

         14  to put up signs?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: The two booths,

         16  as I understand it, there is a lot of optimism, that

         17  they will really provide a point of departure for

         18  people who are interested. It's a much better way of

         19  giving out information, and it will be much easier

         20  for someone who is curious about not just getting

         21  the next ferry to find out what's going on.

         22                 Also, as the St. George area develops

         23  and it does seem to have very much of an artist

         24  community there, hopefully there will be venues in

         25  walking distance that are attractive to visitors.
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          2                 The key cultural attractions on the

          3  Island do take transportation away from the ferry

          4  terminal and making that linkage is part of what

          5  these new visitor booths are about.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: One of the

          7  problems on Staten Island is that you could have

          8  these visitors booths, but they will direct you in a

          9  way to go take a bus to the institution, and people

         10  get on the wrong bus, because there is no signage of

         11  which buses go to what institutions, or how they go

         12  there, and I think that we have to work on this

         13  issue because that's a big problem for Staten

         14  Island, is signage. And the buses say exactly what

         15  bus goes where. How do we address that?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Big, better bus

         17  signage, and it's something I can raise with Mr.

         18  Burke is one thing, there have been conversations

         19  about trollies, and there's also been a ferry dock

         20  put in at Snug Harbor that could eventually take

         21  ferry traffic as well. We need to get ferry

         22  operators to be willing to add that to their summer

         23  route. But, you know, those are other options for

         24  getting people moving around the Island more easily.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Have we tried to
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          2  get ferry operators like to Snug Harbor, for

          3  instance?

          4                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: We have in the

          5  past. So far they haven't considered it an economic

          6  proposition to do in a long-term way. But you know,

          7  there are various ferry concessions that are up for

          8  renegotiation, and it's hopeful that in general with

          9  the rediscovery of the City's waterfront, that that

         10  will become more attractive as a potential

         11  destination.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because the

         13  trolley in the Bronx has been successful, especially

         14  during the wintertime when they have their event for

         15  Christmas and the holiday festivities.

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: At the Bronx Zoo

         18  people go out and the trolley takes you to different

         19  restaurants, and this is something that I think it's

         20  good that we have to look at other boroughs to see

         21  what works there, because they might work in the

         22  other boroughs where we could use that.

         23                 I have a lot more questions, but I'm

         24  going to give my colleagues an opportunity to ask

         25  questions because I could always ask you questions.
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          2                 At this time I'd like to call on

          3  Annabel Palma.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 Commissioner, I want to talk a little

          7  bit about the trolley, and Council Member Domenic

          8  Recchia raised it. What is the operating cost for

          9  the trolley?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: I don't have that

         11  number in my head. I can certainly find out for you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And in your

         13  testimony it says the first Wednesday of every

         14  month, the one that goes around, that's the only

         15  time it goes around? Like, what happens to the rest

         16  of the month with the trolley?

         17                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: The trolley only

         18  operates one day a month, and interestingly that's

         19  part of the reason people think it's so successful,

         20  is because everybody knows there is a concentrated

         21  moment when you've got to get on it. It's worth

         22  noting, there's a very successful trolley associated

         23  with Flushing Town Hall, the Jazz Trail, but many

         24  trolley initiatives actually haven't been successful

         25  in the City. The Bronx really stands out, and,
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          2  again, part of the reason for it seems to be that

          3  there is a dependable day, and you can't do it all

          4  the time so people figure, okay, I've really got to

          5  make an effort to do it now.

          6                 So, that's the formula they figured

          7  out and they can concentrate all their resources

          8  once a month in doing that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And if there's

         10  special events going on in the Borough with

         11  organizations, some non-for-profits will be able to

         12  request the use of the trolley for another day other

         13  than the first Wednesday?

         14                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: What tends to

         15  happen is the organization routes on the trolley

         16  actually program for that day.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: So they sort of

         19  put their best foot forward. Again, that's another

         20  reason why apparently it's been so successful is

         21  that the organizations themselves know to program

         22  around it and that it will help them pull visitors.

         23  So, it seems to be relatively synergistic that way.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Jimmy Vacca.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Commissioner,

          3  by reading your testimony, do I understand you to

          4  mean that you are committed to doing more in the

          5  outer boroughs, that you realize there is a need to

          6  do more in the outer boroughs?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: There is always a

          8  need to do more in every borough, but in particular,

          9  when you're talking about tourism promotion, I think

         10  outside of Manhattan has not focused on this in a

         11  concerted way, so there is absolutely more

         12  opportunity.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Would you say

         14  that the Bronx lags behind Brooklyn, Queens and

         15  Staten Island insomuch as your agency is concerned,

         16  insomuch as the availability of facilities is

         17  concerned?

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: I actually

         19  wouldn't because the Bronx happens to have the

         20  Wildlife Conservation Society, Bronx Zoo, and the

         21  New York Botanic Garden, which among cultural

         22  institutions pull a very significant number of what

         23  we would, sort of the traditional definition of

         24  tourists, people not from New York, or sometimes

         25  people from out of the country, and it was also the
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          2  case that the Bronx trolley happens to be one of the

          3  more successful tourism initiatives. So, I think the

          4  Bronx is actually doing fine. It doesn't mean it

          5  couldn't do better, and we couldn't think smarter

          6  and stronger.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Well, my

          8  concern was when I saw that you added funding panels

          9  in Brooklyn and Queens due to the large applicant

         10  pool, you did not add a funding panel in the Bronx;

         11  should I be thinking that that means that we did not

         12  have enough applicants from the Bronx, or that we

         13  have to do more work?

         14                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: That reflects the

         15  number of applications we get and how many panels we

         16  need to look at them. At the moment the number of

         17  panels suits the number of applicants, so, you know,

         18  we see a little bit of an increase in organizations

         19  in the Bronx, but, you know, it means that there is

         20  not being a huge increase to the number of

         21  organizations, which is neither good nor bad. You

         22  know, a stable population of strong organizations is

         23  a good thing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: We had spoken

         25  before about having artist housing, and you had
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          2  mentioned HPD developments, where affordable housing

          3  is offered, often times gives an opportunity for

          4  artists to have housing.

          5                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: That's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: But I'm not

          7  aware of any such housing in the Bronx. Is there

          8  artist housing in the Bronx where HPD is involved?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: HPD does not

         10  specifically, cannot specifically do artist housing,

         11  because you can't discriminate on the basis of

         12  employment in doing publicly funded housing like

         13  that.

         14                 What we are working with them on is

         15  ways of marketing housing projects that have an

         16  affordability piece, such that, you know, which you

         17  apply for by lottery, making sure that artists

         18  understand that there are those opportunities

         19  available. It's worked in the past when Battery Park

         20  City first opened, for example. There were many,

         21  many artists there because they had been

         22  aggressively marketed to, as participating in those

         23  lotteries.

         24                 So, as HPD projects come on line,

         25  what we're trying to do, and working with NYFA, as
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          2  one of our partners in this, is to make sure that we

          3  have accurate mailing lists for artists so that HPD

          4  can be sure to market to them and try and recruit

          5  them into those applicant pools.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So, if I have

          7  such a development, I should be in touch with you

          8  when the time comes for applications?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: And in

         10  particular, if you have lists. You know, if you have

         11  a good way of us understanding how to get in touch

         12  with artists in your district, it would be hugely

         13  helpful for us to have that information because it's

         14  hard for us to compile.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Well, I have to

         16  tell you, I don't know many artists in my district.

         17  And I don't know many artists that are now -- and I

         18  know almost everybody in my district, I don't know

         19  that you have many artists.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: So, we've got to

         21  get you some artists in your district.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: That's what I

         23  mean. I don't know if there is a distribution, and I

         24  wanted to know, do you have a Citywide list?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: It has tended to
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          2  work more parochially. Borough Arts Councils often

          3  have excellent mailing lists. And, again, the New

          4  York Foundation for the Arts is another resource.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay.

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: But I have to

          7  tell you, one of the difficulties about trying to

          8  recruit people into affordable housing is you've got

          9  to know how to reach them and encourage them to

         10  apply.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay. One last

         12  question. I want to give you a unique situation. In

         13  1977, those were the days when New York City, when

         14  they used to have a school abated, New York City

         15  used to try to sell, not to sell, to lease the

         16  building to a community group for $1 a year, these

         17  are the old days.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: The old days.

         19  You don't see that anymore.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Now, I have a

         21  building like this. I have what we call City Island

         22  Community Center. Former PS 17. This was given to

         23  the community for $1 in 1977 when the new school on

         24  City Island was built, and the City Island Community

         25  Center, Incorporated was formed. They ran it as a
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          2  community center senior center. However, what they

          3  also set up on a good part of the first floor was

          4  the City Island Historical Nautical Museum, run by

          5  the City Island Historical Society.

          6                 Now comes the 1990s and the City

          7  policy changes. They want all City real estate to

          8  produce revenue and to be sold. So, the building is

          9  sold to a private developer who is required to keep

         10  the museum in place but makes the remainder of the

         11  units condominiums. Open market condominiums.

         12                 Now, the building was built in 1897.

         13  There are capital needs in the City Island

         14  Historical part, in the museum part. There was an

         15  incident of arson outside the building in August.

         16  The museum is not handicap accessible. I'm giving

         17  you some issues. However, now New York City has a

         18  policy where capital money cannot be committed to

         19  non-City-owned buildings. How do we help a museum

         20  like this that is storing historical artifacts from

         21  City Island, how do we help them repair their

         22  building and keep them viable? Considering their

         23  unique situation?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: The exception to

         25  that policy is for cultural institutions. So, we
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          2  could potentially drive capital money towards them,

          3  even though they're not on City property. It would

          4  depend on what kind of real property interest they

          5  have, and is their lease long enough to sustain the

          6  capital project.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: They have a

          8  long-term lease.

          9                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: So, happy to be

         10  in touch with them and see what we can do for them.

         11  Because if they're a 501(c)(3) with a cultural

         12  purpose, they're absolutely eligible for funding.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: You have

         14  capital money that you could utilize for that

         15  purpose?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: We do.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right. I'm

         18  going to put them in touch with you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: And you have

         20  capital money you could allocate to us.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I know I do.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: See, Jimmy.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: But the arson

         24  just happened in August, after we did our budget.

         25  So, in all fairness to me, but, you know --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: It's all right.

          3                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: But happy to work

          4  with you on that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 Thank you, Commissioner.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

          9                 Leroy Comrie.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair. Good afternoon, Commissioners.

         12                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Good afternoon.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I was looking

         14  at your statement. Queens has been doing, the

         15  Borough President has been doing the dinner weeks in

         16  conjunction with the -- I forget what the title is,

         17  the pre-fix dinner weeks, Restaurant Week in Queens.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Restaurant Week.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Have your

         20  agencies been tying in with that program in Queens

         21  that they've undertaken in Queens Borough

         22  President's Office? Either one of your agencies?

         23                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: DCA has not been

         24  involved with it. I don't know whether --

         25                 DR. KEREN: NYC And Company, a little
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          2  bit of the research we have done, and I mentioned

          3  food earlier, knowing that you can eat and get a

          4  good meal is actually an incentive to exploring

          5  further afield in the boroughs. I'm not directly

          6  involved in marketing the Queens Restaurant Week,

          7  but I will tell you that last summer NYC And Company

          8  pulled together a program that linked cultural

          9  organizations and restaurants in all of the

         10  boroughs, including City Island, and around some of

         11  the arts organizations in Queens, because we believe

         12  that knowing you can go and have a cup of coffee, or

         13  have lunch or have dinner after you've been to a

         14  museum or garden or the theater encourages people to

         15  make the trip. And we are revitalizing that program

         16  again in 2008 in a much more expanded version, not

         17  to compete with the neighborhood restaurant weeks,

         18  because those serve a real purpose for the

         19  community, but to capitalize on that relationship

         20  between our stomachs and our hunger for culture.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Well,

         22  that sounds promising. I just wanted to bring that

         23  out. Also, in Jamaica, we have a Jamaica Jams

         24  Weekend. In Steinway Street they have the Steinway

         25  Business Merchants Weekend, and other opportunities
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          2  I think for linkages with both your agencies that

          3  could further promote that and bring tourists to

          4  those areas, since they already have a focus in

          5  those areas anyway I think would be helpful to all

          6  entities involved. And there are other, you know,

          7  similar fests that are already going underway. I

          8  don't want to go through the whole Queens list, but,

          9  you know, clearly there are many opportunities to

         10  continue to tie in the agencies with that particular

         11  neighborhoods that are already doing things, and I

         12  would hope that we could see some more of that.

         13                 I was going to bring up the panels,

         14  but I'll leave that alone for another day when I

         15  have more time. But I see you referred to it. I'm

         16  just glad to note that you did have increased

         17  participation from Queens members and I hope that

         18  it's reflected in also Brooklyn in actually the

         19  dollars that were allocated to them as well. But I'm

         20  sure you don't have that breakdown with you now,

         21  I'll get that from you.

         22                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Overall there was

         23  a 40 percent increase in dollars going to

         24  organizations outside of Manhattan.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Outside of
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          2  Manhattan?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: He wants to know

          6  what's the increase in Queens.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: That I don't

          8  have, but we can get it for you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: See, I knew

         10  you didn't have that specific statistic, but I'm

         11  just glad to know that more Queens groups are

         12  participating and hopefully --

         13                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: And getting more

         14  money.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And they're

         16  getting more money. So that's great.

         17                 That's it. I just wanted to bring up

         18  those two issues. Thank you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Does any other

         23  Council member have questions?

         24                 Before I start getting some

         25  questions, let's talk about marketing, because that

                                                            42

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  is a big focus, and I'm not only talking about

          3  marketing for the large institutions, but for the

          4  small institutions, what can we do in government to

          5  help the small arts organization, the smaller

          6  theaters, the smaller museums, because they don't

          7  have the money of the funding to go out there and

          8  market themselves. You know, one problem with NYC

          9  And Company that I hear is, you know, that these

         10  small organizations can't afford to become members

         11  of them. So, you know, Commissioner, Donna, whoever

         12  wants to go first and would like to address this

         13  issue, you know, in the marketing aspect of it, and

         14  what ideas you might have, or how we could help the

         15  smaller organizations, because they can't afford to

         16  get their message out.

         17                 And, Commissioner, would you also add

         18  on, how can a small organization get to be on one of

         19  those TV spots that you have?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: Right, I'll start

         21  at the end. We are constantly looking for

         22  organizations to feature on Commissioner's Picks and

         23  have featured many small organizations. It partly

         24  depends on when the radio show takes place, because

         25  we want to do things that are happening during that
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          2  period of time.

          3                 We tend to favor activities that take

          4  place over a relatively long period, in other words,

          5  not to feature things that just happen on one day,

          6  with a thought that it's just frustrating for people

          7  to try and get to it. But we are constantly on the

          8  lookout for those kinds of things.

          9                 If organizations want to come tell us

         10  what they're doing, if they think they're doing

         11  something that would be particularly good to be

         12  featured, we welcome that. But we are out there

         13  looking all day every day, and Teresa Gonzalez has

         14  done a fabulous job of developing that feature. So,

         15  that's how we handle that particular issue.

         16                 The larger question of marketing for

         17  cultural organizations is actually quite complex.

         18  Because the difference between marketing and

         19  advertising is something that organizations have

         20  often a hard time understanding and figuring out how

         21  to do. It's one thing to advertise what you're

         22  doing, but to really figure out how you want to pick

         23  a target audience and reach them is more of an art

         24  than a science for everybody these days. And it's a

         25  big shift for culturals that are used to just saying
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          2  what they do and have people come.

          3                 So, it's particularly stressful for

          4  smaller organizations who don't have the resources

          5  or the sophistication to really figure out who it is

          6  that they want to outreach to. That said, there is a

          7  fair amount of technical assistance provided by the

          8  field. The Arts and Business Council does a terrific

          9  conference annually on this subject for example. The

         10  Department of Cultural Affairs did a seminar about a

         11  year and a half ago about marketing that introduced

         12  the field to various resources the City has just in

         13  terms of basic population data, because you can't

         14  market unless you know who you're looking for, where

         15  they are, who your population that currently knows

         16  about you is.

         17                 So there are various resources

         18  available through service organizations in the

         19  field.

         20                 In terms of actual resources, partly

         21  then it depends on what an individual organization

         22  knows about who it is trying to reach and how to

         23  reach them. Because in some cases, you know, getting

         24  pro bono, whether it's air time or ads in local

         25  press may be very helpful. In some cases it's a
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          2  postcard campaign. In some cases it requires

          3  something more sophisticated and expensive, like

          4  telemarketing. DCA's own website we hope will be a

          5  much more responsive tool over the next year as we

          6  roll out various enhancements that we are planning

          7  to put on that site, and by partnering with NYC And

          8  Company as a portal for some of the innovations

          9  they're making to their website, it will be much

         10  easier to find smaller organizations, if you're

         11  looking for them. Because one of the biggest

         12  challenges is that many of them don't have websites

         13  and that's increasingly the way that cultural

         14  tourists are looking for where it is that they want

         15  to go.

         16                 So, no quick answer, but resources

         17  are available and organizations hopefully will

         18  themselves start having a better understanding of

         19  what it is that they're looking to do, and my agency

         20  certainly will help to be responsive to them.

         21                 DR. KEREN: I want to second a couple

         22  of things that Kate said.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Donna, if you

         24  could move the microphone closer to you so we can

         25  hear?
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          2                 DR. KEREN: Okay, sorry.

          3                 Some of the things that Kate said

          4  about the challenges, and address one of your

          5  questions, Domenic. The issue of membership is

          6  something that is changing at NYC And Company. The

          7  additional funding we're receiving from the City is

          8  opening up our budget in our perspective in terms of

          9  how we represent organizations.

         10                 We've always worked through again

         11  something such as Art New York, which represents

         12  dozens of theaters and theater companies

         13  collectively and encouraged them to use our site.

         14                 Our Calendar of Events has always

         15  been open to any organization, whether they were

         16  members or not.

         17                 As we are moving our program forward,

         18  the new website, which is in development, we'll

         19  launch in the first quarter of next year will be a

         20  much more interactive tool and much more likely, if

         21  you say you're going to be in Brooklyn on the third

         22  week in March to pull up the kinds of events that

         23  are happening in Brooklyn that week rather than just

         24  heading you towards the larger organizations that

         25  may be in Manhattan.
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          2                 We are also doing this with our

          3  international offices. One of the things we do know

          4  is that international visitors are somewhat more

          5  intrepid about exploring New York than are domestic

          6  visitors.

          7                 We see them here for seven to eight

          8  days, and we interview them, they tell us that they

          9  are more likely, about three to four times more

         10  likely than domestic visitors to explore another

         11  borough.

         12                 And the investment we're making in

         13  international offices, which is really in marketing

         14  and PR and relationships with tour operators, is

         15  raising the awareness of the diversity of cultural

         16  organizations in the City, and then they communicate

         17  that to their travelers and that's part of what we

         18  see. And, again, I bring back the visitors to

         19  friends and relatives, this is incumbent on all of

         20  us to highlight what we have in our boroughs and

         21  what's in the City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You know, you

         23  are right. But you know what the problem is? A lot

         24  of people that live here, they haven't even seen

         25  many cultural loops or theaters. You know, when
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          2  their friends or relatives come in they said, oh, I

          3  heard about this, I want to go there. But we could

          4  go on all afternoon and talk about this, but,

          5  Commissioner, it was a year and a half ago that you

          6  had that seminar, you know, on marketing. I think it

          7  might be a good idea if we could do it again, to

          8  help the organizations.

          9                 Also, I would like to see on the

         10  websites, I think we have to somehow get the word

         11  out there to organizations, exactly how they could

         12  get their group to be spotted on the commercials and

         13  how maybe they could have their events noted on

         14  their website and on your website, NYC and the DCA

         15  website, you know, exactly how they do it.

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: In developing our

         17  site we worked very long and hard to make the

         18  interface as easy as possible, and in our first

         19  round of beta testing it, we did have many, many

         20  small organizations signed up so when we go for the

         21  fuller launch, we will spend as much time --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And when do you

         23  expect the full launch to be out?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: First quarter of

         25  '08.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: But we are very

          4  mindful of the same priorities.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because I think

          6  this will be good if we can get everybody on it. And

          7  I just want to put another idea out to you, I think

          8  this is very important. I think somewhere on your

          9  websites you should have what's available, what's

         10  going on on the weekends, the families and the

         11  children. Because you could go crazy. We've gone

         12  what's out there for families on the weekends. You

         13  know, and I think that's another way we could really

         14  get people out to the outer boroughs and all over.

         15                 I don't have any more questions. I

         16  could stay up here and ask you questions and go on

         17  and on, but I want to thank you both for coming here

         18  today. But before we leave, I want to make an

         19  announcement that today is Tim Thayer's birthday and

         20  we would like to wish you a happy birthday. We can't

         21  let you go out of here. So, Tim, have a happy

         22  birthday.

         23                 Okay, we won't ask you how old. Okay,

         24  thank you very much. Call the next panel.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next panel
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          2  will be Carolyn Greer, representing Brooklyn Borough

          3  President Marty Markowitz, and Theresa Osborne,

          4  representing Queens Borough President Helen

          5  Marshall.

          6                 That's Theresa, right?

          7                 MS. GREER: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. Queens is

          9  going to give us their own little show.

         10                 Okay, Carolyn, welcome to City Hall.

         11  You have to turn the light off to be on, and on to

         12  be off.

         13                 MS. GREER: Good afternoon. I'm

         14  Carolyn Greer, Director of Public Events, Special

         15  Projects and Tourism for Brooklyn Borough President

         16  Marty Markowitz.

         17                 On behalf of Brooklyn tourism, the

         18  Borough's destination marketing organization, I want

         19  to commend the City Council for its interest in

         20  gaining insight into cultural tourism and the

         21  initiatives we are undertaking to address challenges

         22  of promoting cultural tourism to boroughs other than

         23  Manhattan.

         24                 Borough President Markowitz has made

         25  tourism a major initiative of his administration. In
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          2  2004, we opened the first tourism center outside of

          3  Manhattan, which continues to operate five days a

          4  week all year, and on Saturdays from Memorial Day to

          5  Columbus Day.

          6                 It is staffed with enthusiastic

          7  trained volunteers and over 13,000 people visited it

          8  last year. Brooklyn Tourism also operates a tourism

          9  kiosk at the Brooklyn Cruise Terminal and a greeter

         10  is there distributing Brooklyn tourism materials and

         11  offers information about the borough each time a

         12  ship is in.

         13                 Additionally, we have a tourism

         14  website for Brooklyn, www.visitbrooklyn.org, which

         15  we are currently optimizing to be more interactive

         16  for consumers and the travel trade, and more

         17  informative about Brooklyn-based cultural

         18  attractions.

         19                 The new website has been made

         20  possible through funding from an Explore New York

         21  grant and is scheduled to launch in December.

         22                 Thus, Brooklyn is working hard to

         23  define and market itself as a tourism destination

         24  unto itself and to add value and to enhance the New

         25  York City cultural tourism portfolio with our
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          2  cultural attractions.

          3                 The Borough President has made

          4  tourism a priority in Brooklyn because cultural

          5  tourism is not just about bragging rights, which of

          6  course is a priority of Marty's, but more

          7  importantly because cultural tourism is a major

          8  economic engine in New York City and Brooklyn wants

          9  to grow its share of the tourism dollars.

         10                 Brooklyn tourism wants strategically

         11  to work to understand the cultural tourism market.

         12  For instance, we know from New York City And Company

         13  that cultural tourists tend to be more intrepid,

         14  experienced, motivated, stay longer and spend more

         15  money. Therefore, they are more likely to come to a

         16  borough outside of Manhattan.

         17                 We want to give cultural tourists

         18  more reasons to come to Brooklyn by leveraging our

         19  cultural assets through product development,

         20  programming and marketing.

         21                 NYC And Company defines cultural

         22  tourism activities as visits to museums, art

         23  exhibits, plays, concerts, dance, historic sites,

         24  fairs and festivals and cultural or ethnic heritage

         25  sites.
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          2                 Brooklyn tourism has organized its

          3  cultural organizations and attractions into an

          4  association of tourism stakeholders. The Brooklyn

          5  portfolio includes cultural attractions from hip to

          6  historic and from small gyms to world class

          7  institutions, including the Brooklyn Museum, MOCAD

          8  (phonetic), the Museum of Contemporary African

          9  Diaspore, and over 100 art galleries. Premiere

         10  performing arts centers, like BAM and St. Ann's

         11  Warehouse, performing arts groups like Mark Morris

         12  Dance Company, special events like the Atlantic

         13  Antic, the International African Arts Festival,

         14  Mermaid Parade and, of course, the West Indian Day

         15  Carnival and Parade, as well as historic sites, like

         16  Weeksville Historic Houses, one of the City's true

         17  African-American Heritage Treasures, the Old Stone

         18  House and Wyckoff House. As Marty says, "Brooklyn

         19  has something for everyone."

         20                 Brooklyn indeed has much to offer the

         21  cultural tourism visitor, but of course they must

         22  first be made aware of these wonderful unique

         23  choices. Our challenge is to get the word out about

         24  these cultural assets located in Brooklyn and

         25  especially to market them as cultural destinations
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          2  to the tourism trade through which national and

          3  international group travel is booked.

          4                 We have developed a tourism booklet

          5  and a guide and we've even translated it into six

          6  languages of the New York City top feeder markets.

          7  But we can only afford to take these beautiful

          8  marketing pieces to two or three tourism trade shows

          9  a year out of the scores that are available. And

         10  trade shows are indeed one of the most influential

         11  ways to market to the tourist individually and the

         12  trade.

         13                 While the City does have an official

         14  tourism marketing agency, New York City And Company,

         15  with new leadership, expanded resources, new

         16  marketing outlets across Europe, Asia and South

         17  America, NYC And Company just does not have full

         18  insight about the boroughs to market each of them in

         19  the most effective way. This limits the economic

         20  impact of its efforts because it is not fully

         21  offering all of the City's cultural attractions to

         22  an increasingly sophisticated, complex and global

         23  travel market.

         24                 Many visitors to New York City are

         25  repeat visitors and the promotion of additional
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          2  cultural tourism assets in the boroughs will offer

          3  new and niche draws for the repeat cultural visitor

          4  market.

          5                 So, we want to emphasize that in

          6  order to effectively market the boroughs outside of

          7  Manhattan, each borough would benefit from having

          8  its own funded tourism budget to sustain borough

          9  destination marketing.

         10                 A borough DMO, Destination Marketing

         11  Organization, can and should work closely with NYC

         12  And Company to increase tourism to the cultural

         13  attractions in its borough. Because each borough

         14  knows how to best position its smallest, as well as

         15  its large cultural tourism attractions, its own

         16  calendar of special events and how to define its

         17  brand in the global travel marketplace, we suggest

         18  that the model for tourism in New York City should

         19  be more like our City's governance structure. We

         20  have a Mayor but we also have borough presidents and

         21  we have City Council members.

         22                 Each has their own responsibilities

         23  and their own point of view. The first being the

         24  overall perspective for the City, while the latter

         25  responds to the specific interest of the borough and
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          2  communities.

          3                 Similarly, while New York City And

          4  Company promotes the entire City, Borough Tourism

          5  Offices should be funded to work with it to market

          6  the boroughs.

          7                 Speaking to this model, we would also

          8  now respectively ask that the City Council look into

          9  funding tourism materials with the title New York

         10  City only and when all five boroughs of New York

         11  City are fairly represented in those materials.

         12                 Additionally, borough cultural

         13  tourism is much about the related economy of

         14  cultural tourism, the borough's hotels, restaurants

         15  and shopping districts, as it is about visitors to

         16  the cultural institutions.

         17                 What better entity than the Borough

         18  to put together tourism products, such as

         19  itineraries, seasonal calendars and travel

         20  promotions that connect our cultural institutions

         21  with our communities.

         22                 For instance, Brooklyn tourism worked

         23  with the heart of Brooklyn cultural partnership and

         24  developed the Brooklyn Pass. It's a tourism product

         25  that packages cultural attractions together and
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          2  allows tourists to pay a one-price visit to all of

          3  them over two days.

          4                 We developed this product to

          5  incentivize tourists to get off the double-decker

          6  sightseeing buses that travel through our community,

          7  and to spend some money in the communities.

          8                 We also work with cultural partners

          9  like BAM, the Brooklyn Public Library, Housing

         10  Works, the Brooklyn Historical Society, the National

         11  Book Foundation, as well as the business community,

         12  to present the new and very successful Brooklyn Book

         13  Festival.

         14                 The festival is becoming a major

         15  annual destination event in Brooklyn, and as it

         16  moves to become a multi-day event, it will increase

         17  the economic impact of visitors to our Borough's

         18  hotels, restaurants.

         19                 Brooklyn tourism also organizes Dine

         20  In Brooklyn Restaurant Week, which promotes some 200

         21  of the Borough's best restaurants to bring in

         22  customers during what is usually an off-peak time

         23  for restaurants.

         24                 Now, all of this has been done on a

         25  shoestring budget, with the help of Brooklyn's help
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          2  and business leaders, including the Brooklyn Chamber

          3  of Commerce, the Brooklyn Economic Development

          4  Corporation, and with grants from Brooklyn City

          5  Council Members David Yassky and Bill DeBlasio, as

          6  well as a grant from New York City And Company, but

          7  whatever small in-roads we have made in getting

          8  Brooklyn's cultural tourism attractions on the map,

          9  they are very modest indeed and do not contribute

         10  even a fraction of Brooklyn's potential impact to

         11  the New York City cultural tourism economy that a

         12  larger marketing budget would make possible.

         13                 Our strategy has been to compliment

         14  the work of New York City And Company. We attend

         15  important travel trade shows, like International Pow

         16  Wow and the World Travel Market, and we join them in

         17  their cluster of suppliers so that every time they

         18  say New York City, we say Brooklyn.

         19                 But this is not free to the Borough.

         20  It costs thousands of dollars to participate with

         21  New York City And Company, not counting the cost of

         22  developing and printing promotional materials, which

         23  also costs thousands of dollars.

         24                 Additionally, we male our brochures

         25  to all of the New York City And Company
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          2  International Tourism Offices around the world but

          3  at our expense.

          4                 With our limited resources there is

          5  only so much we can do. We cannot truly be effective

          6  partners in the New York City cultural tourism

          7  business without increased and sustainable funding.

          8  So, on behalf of Brooklyn Borough President Marty

          9  Markowitz, and the Brooklyn Tourism Board, we

         10  entreat the City Council to support Brooklyn

         11  Cultural Tourism Initiatives with funding in the

         12  boroughs. And remember, what's good for the boroughs

         13  is good for New York City.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         15  much, Carolyn.

         16                 Well, basically what you think that

         17  you need is funding for tourism, that every borough

         18  should get a budget, get some funding for tourism.

         19                 MS. GREER: Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So they could do

         21  their own budgeting.

         22                 MS. GREER: Absolutely. So they can be

         23  a more full and effective partner with New York City

         24  And Company.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And these trade
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          2  shows that you go through, right? The Borough

          3  President's Office pays for that?

          4                 MS. GREER: The trade shows that we go

          5  through, we have gotten different economic

          6  development grants, we sometimes raise sponsorship.

          7  Like I said, there has been some money coming from a

          8  couple of our City Council members. We sort of

          9  scrabble the money together and we pick and choose

         10  what we can do.

         11                 The tourism trade shows are where the

         12  big market buyers are. We'll sit and talk with

         13  somebody who will say to me, I bring 65,000 visitors

         14  a year to New York City and I budget and schedule

         15  every moment of their time, and you know, none of

         16  them come to Brooklyn yet. Tell me why they should

         17  come to Brooklyn? And that gives us face-to-face

         18  access to say to the major travel market why they

         19  should come to Brooklyn to help them make

         20  itineraries.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And since you've

         22  been doing this, how much has it increased, the

         23  tourists to Brooklyn?

         24                 MS. GREER: Well, borough tourism

         25  numbers have not been researched thoroughly, but

                                                            61

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  Brooklyn tourism did do, for the first time last

          3  year actually, a statistic sheet through its

          4  members, and we compiled 2005 and we're just

          5  finishing 2006, and we're seeing approximately a 4.8

          6  percent increase.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

          8                 MS. GREER: And like I said, we're

          9  just starting our research but we have polled

         10  members and actually have top ten attractions and

         11  are beginning to understand how that works.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         13                 Council Member Gentile.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you.

         15  Thank you. And those are some strong words there

         16  from Brooklyn,"Make It Brooklyn, Not New York City."

         17  That's good.

         18                 I had a question on the Brooklyn

         19  Pass.

         20                 MS. GREER: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: How long has

         22  this been in effect?

         23                 MS. GREER: This is almost a year now.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And I'm

         25  sorry, I may have missed it. What are the numbers of
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          2  people who have -- do you have any statistics on the

          3  people who have purchased --

          4                 MS. GREER: The people who have

          5  redeemed it?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Yes.

          7                 MS. GREER: I can get statistics from

          8  the company that we sell them through.

          9                 Part of the issue, like any time you

         10  have a product or any time you have a party you have

         11  to get the invitation out and you have to market it.

         12  So, we've been doing this in a very viral way and

         13  putting this out in our tourism centers and around.

         14                 We have just recently signed an

         15  agreement with Gray Line to help market this for us.

         16  So, I think that we can get what the numbers are.

         17  But I think that they'll only get bigger as we make

         18  some new partnerships.

         19                 It took us a full year to put the

         20  product together, you know, and get it out.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And is this

         22  being tried anywhere else in the outer boroughs, do

         23  you know?

         24                 MS. GREER: This is the only one in

         25  the borough.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That's

          3  interesting.

          4                 So, I'm just curious, are these

          5  suggestions on the back here, or you can go to any--

          6                 MS. GREER: No, these are the ones.

          7  This two-day pass, you buy it, you pay 25 bucks and

          8  you can go to all of these places as often as you

          9  want over two days, and you can get special treats

         10  at some of the other places. But you pay $15 for a

         11  child or $25 for an adult, and you can just go to

         12  the New York Aquarium, you can go to the Brooklyn

         13  Museum, you just keep swiping and going in.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Great.

         15                 MS. GREER: We've actually had some

         16  very good luck now selling this to groups when they

         17  come in. We're starting to work with the hotels, and

         18  have them put that out with their conference trade,

         19  part of their packets. And so we're starting --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: To make these

         21  available --

         22                 MS. GREER: Right, to make it to

         23  conference packets when they book hotel rooms.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Right. The

         25  Brooklyn Marriot, I assume, is one of them?
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          2                 MS. GREER: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay, that's

          4  great.

          5                 But if I still wanted to go to the

          6  Harvard Defense Museum at Fort Hamilton, I could use

          7  this.

          8                 MS. GREER: I think it's free, isn't

          9  it?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Oh, is it

         11  free? Right, absolutely.

         12                 MS. GREER: So, I'm sure they'll honor

         13  it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That takes

         15  care of that. Okay.

         16                 MS. GREER: All right?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you,

         20  Carolyn Greer, for coming.

         21                 MS. GREER: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Queens is up

         23  next.

         24                 Theresa. Will you bring your partner

         25  up there? Michelle. Just state your name for the
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          2  record, and then you can start testifying. Thank

          3  you. Thank you for being here today.

          4                 MS. GREER: Oh, you're welcome.

          5                 MS. OSBORNE: I'm Terry Osborne.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I just want to

          7  make one announcement.

          8                 All the Borough Presidents were

          9  invited to today's hearing. I'd just like to say

         10  that for the record.

         11                 MS. OSBORNE: Okay. It's on now. My

         12  name is Theresa Osborne. I'm Director of Culture and

         13  Tourism for Queens Borough President Helen Marshall.

         14  Thank you for inviting me. Good afternoon, Chairman

         15  Recchia and Council members.

         16                 I will start with something called

         17  More NYC. It was a group that came together from the

         18  four outer boroughs about four years ago,

         19  particularly to address the issues that we're

         20  talking about today.

         21                 It was made up of people from the

         22  Borough President's Office, NYC And Company, NYC

         23  Transit, Small Business Services, Economic

         24  Development Corporation's BIDs, LDCs, cultural and

         25  historic organizations. Its purpose was to assist
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          2  local organizations in the development and promotion

          3  of themselves as a tourist destination. The

          4  collaboration between the four boroughs, again, was

          5  outside of Manhattan. Original funding was provided

          6  by grants from the New York State Council on the

          7  Arts, NYC And Company Foundation, Economic

          8  Development Corporation, Borough Presidents, among

          9  others. Additional funding is now being provided by

         10  a Deutsche Bank grant.

         11                 Today the oversight of More NYC is

         12  under the guidance of the Arts and Business Council

         13  of New York City, with marketing expertise provided

         14  by headline communications.

         15                 Brooklyn, other than the Heart of

         16  Brooklyn and the Borough President's Initiatives,

         17  they're developing packaging of multiple venues as a

         18  destination, and these venues are the Greenwood

         19  Cemetery, the Doll and Toy Museum of New York, Micro

         20  Museum, Transit Museum, Wyckoff Farm House,

         21  Waterfront Museum and Showboat Barge, Old Stone

         22  House and the Weeksville Heritage Center.

         23                 The Bronx is developing stories on

         24  local attractions for national travel publications,

         25  coordinated by the Bronx Economic Development
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          2  Corporation, Bronx Tourism Council, and the Borough

          3  President's Office.

          4                 Staten Island is identifying

          5  opportunities for collaboration within the borough,

          6  so they're trying to put this package together. And

          7  that again, the lead agencies there are the Council

          8  on Arts and Humanities for Staten Island and the

          9  Borough President's Office.

         10                 Harlem, which is Manhattan, and they

         11  asked to come in on this, and they said, sure, the

         12  more the merrier, they are developing training

         13  programs for group tour sales and expanding media

         14  relations efforts. And this is coordinated by the

         15  Harlem One Stop.

         16                 In Queens, of course Queens is where

         17  we are, we have identified cultural tourism hubs.

         18  Basically Long Island City, Flushing Meadows, Corona

         19  Park and Downtown Flushing. There are actually many

         20  more. There is Jamaica, there is Bayside, but these

         21  three areas are the ones where the cultural

         22  organizations themselves and the Economic

         23  Development Corporations in those areas are really

         24  focused and they really want to work together to

         25  make things happen.
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          2                 In Long Island City, we have the Long

          3  Island City Cultural Alliance that coordinates

          4  between ten cultural venues, 13 restaurants and

          5  assorted businesses in the Long Island City area.

          6  They have been running weekend promotions in May and

          7  October of this year. They also have a website and a

          8  quarterly guide. They've incorporated as their own

          9  501(c)(3) tax exempt organizations. They are

         10  undertaking a direct research at this time, and I do

         11  not have any numbers yet since they're still in the

         12  process. This is the first year they've done this,

         13  as to recording what their outcomes were of the

         14  promotion that they did.

         15                 Flushing Meadows Corona Park. This

         16  was a promotion that was coordinated by the Queens

         17  Tourism Council, Discover Queens In August, it

         18  worked with the Queens Tourism Council and the

         19  Economic Development Corporation and all the park

         20  venues, which are the New York Hall of Science,

         21  Queens Zoo, Queens Botanical Garden, Queens Museum,

         22  Queens Theater in the Park, the Parks Department,

         23  the USTA and the Mets, and the Hong Kong Dragon Boat

         24  Festival.

         25                 Venues cross promoted each other's
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          2  events. The Mets produced a Queens tourism video

          3  piece that was shown on the jumboton screen

          4  (phonetic) during the games, a hotel concierge

          5  truler (sic) of the surrounding hotels was given and

          6  a Guide to the Park was produced and distributed in

          7  print and on line to, again, through the hotels and

          8  through the various venues.

          9                 Some highlights are the New York Hall

         10  of Science attendance grew to a new high, which we

         11  heard before, it's about 415,000 visitors.

         12  Seventy-three of those visitors come from the five

         13  boroughs with another 27 percent from other

         14  locations. Queens Theater in the Park reports that

         15  for special events 45 percent of their attendance is

         16  coming from Nassau and Suffolk County and growing.

         17  For their Latino festival, the attendance also comes

         18  from New Jersey, Connecticut and on average the

         19  various park festivals attract anywhere between

         20  50,000 to 100,000 people. Those are the major

         21  cultural festivals.

         22                 Downtown Flushing, 350th anniversary

         23  of the Flushing Monstrance (phonetic), which is this

         24  year. It's a collaboration between the Queens

         25  Library, Historical Society, Bound House (phonetic),
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          2  Flushing Town Hall, Sulka Gaia (phonetic)

          3  International, Flushing BID, Archives Partnership

          4  Trust, New York State Archives, New York City New

          5  York And Company Foundation, Queens Tourism Council

          6  and the Borough President's Office. And this is

          7  coming out in full-page advertising, daily and local

          8  papers and website listings. So far the attractions

          9  have registered capacity.

         10                 Also, Flushing Town Hall reports that

         11  their overall attendance has grown to about 80,000

         12  yearly and on their trolley trail tours, Jazz Trail

         13  Tours, it runs at capacity. That's once a month, but

         14  at capacity and it's a cross section of tourists

         15  from local, national and international.

         16                 We have established a Queens Visitors

         17  Center at the Queens Shopping Center, partnership

         18  with the Mashurish Corporation (phonetic) and the

         19  Queens Economic Development Corporation. We're

         20  averaging about 100 people a week. Those are people

         21  that have never been around, through or knew

         22  anything about what's in Queens. One of the

         23  difficulties of Queens, people in Queens identify

         24  with their neighborhood rather than Queens, and they

         25  tend to stay in that neighborhood, and so we in
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          2  Queens are trying to educate other people so that

          3  once again we can also enhance the NYC And Company's

          4  promotion, which is Ask The Locals, we want to make

          5  sure when somebody asks one of our locals in Queens,

          6  they can say, yes, the panorama of New York City is

          7  in the Queens Museum of Art.

          8                 So, anyway, just one of the things I

          9  just wanted to also say, we are opening a visitors

         10  center at Borough Hall, the Red Bird, the old subway

         11  car. People love to have their picture taken with

         12  it. And just a couple of things that I thought

         13  about. I would like to say small business services,

         14  Next Stop NYC, was a promotion that small business

         15  services developed using the F Line as a

         16  destination, taking the train and stopping at

         17  various points. In that promotion, they also

         18  highlighted the cultural organizations, the shopping

         19  opportunities and restaurants.

         20                 And I think if we could have more of

         21  a dialogue with some of the other agencies, as to

         22  what they could do, I think it would enhance all of

         23  our abilities without expending a lot of money on

         24  one particular promotion.

         25                 The other idea is New York City
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          2  Transit, their deals, it's a wonderful way to

          3  advertise. Again, using what we have, our

          4  infrastructure, our subways, our bus systems, use it

          5  for what it's worth and show how you can connect

          6  with your simple little MetroCard, how you can get

          7  around the City of New York.

          8                 And I'd just like to briefly turn it

          9  over to Michelle Stoddart, the Director of the

         10  Queens Tourism Council, and give you just a little

         11  bit about some of the programs that they've done.

         12                 Michelle.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You have to turn

         14  it on. Off, no light.

         15                 MS. STODDART: Okay. Hi. My name is

         16  Michelle Stoddart. I'm the Director of Marketing and

         17  Tourism for the Queens Economic Development

         18  Corporation, and we operate the Queens Tourism

         19  Council.

         20                 I'm just here supporting Terry today

         21  and I wanted to talk about some of the Queens

         22  Tourism Council Initiatives, a few of which you have

         23  heard about already. The Queens Tourism Council

         24  operates Restaurant Week, which happened in

         25  September of this month. We can speak to the

                                                            73

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  economic portion of this. We got the results back

          3  from Restaurant Week with most restaurants saying

          4  they saw increases of up to 20 percent in new diners

          5  in their restaurants. So, right now we have

          6  reporting back from upwards of seven percent of the

          7  120 restaurants I believe we had participating.

          8                 That's an increase in itself. We had

          9  85 restaurants participating last year. So, each

         10  year Restaurant Week grows as the restaurants, see

         11  the worth of having that promotion run with us.

         12                 We do Restaurant Week each year,

         13  especially because we want to tie in eating, as

         14  Donna mentioned, with visiting cultural

         15  institutions. So, both have worked hand-in-hand, and

         16  for use we use the Discover Queens.info website,

         17  which is promoted on the Discover Queens brand to

         18  (1) highlight and list all the restaurants

         19  participating in restaurant week, which we keep for

         20  the entire year, and highlight the cultural

         21  institutions that are members of the Queens Tourism

         22  Council. So, on our coupon page you can actually go

         23  and get, you know, a coupon to a restaurant and

         24  visit a cultural institution at the same time.

         25                 We run year-long promotions. We do

                                                            74

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  the Discover Queens in August, that Terry touched

          3  on. We do the Spring into Queens, encouraging people

          4  to come out to Queens for the spring, and go to the

          5  cultural institutions. And we did Fall Back and

          6  Discover Queens, which gets kicked off at Culture

          7  Fest, that Donna talked about earlier.

          8                 And all those things drive traffic

          9  into Queens and it's under the banner of Discover

         10  Queens and promoted heavily through the website,

         11  just due to the limited resources that we have, in

         12  terms of marketing the borough.

         13                 We do work very closely with NYC And

         14  Company. They helped us with Restaurant Week in

         15  putting it on their website and helping us with

         16  approaching media, and we got as lot of media

         17  through the efforts working with their PR arm to get

         18  the word out about Restaurant Week. So, I want to

         19  say thank you for that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.

         21                 I just have one or two quick

         22  questions.

         23                 So, you talked about the Transit and

         24  with the MetroCard, and you think we could work

         25  better if we work with the MTA in communicating what
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          2  is in the areas on their buses and trains?

          3                 MS. OSBORNE: I think that's part of

          4  it. But I think it's also you have to develop the

          5  product. Somebody has to sit down and really look at

          6  the maps and say, okay, you know, like let's use the

          7  A Train, okay? What are the stops on the A Train

          8  that are really, you know, kind of special?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, in other

         10  words, each subway line, because I'm looking at this

         11  thing with the F Line, it's very good, but you left

         12  out one main attraction.

         13                 MS. OSBORNE: Okay. I didn't do this.

         14  This is Small Business Services.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm just saying,

         16  no I'm going to call Small Business Services, how

         17  could you leave out the Aquarium? I mean, you know.

         18                 MS. OSBORNE: That's interesting.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is very

         20  good, but I think they need to collaborate with

         21  boroughs.

         22                 Like, see, what I think we need to do

         23  is I think we need to call a little summit and have

         24  each Borough President's Office be represented, NYC

         25  and the DCA, to have a summit to see how we could
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          2  work together. Because I think this is a very good

          3  idea, but I think had they talked to each Borough

          4  President's Office, it could be much more effective,

          5  and maybe we could come up with something to see if

          6  that could be effective to all the Borough

          7  Presidents in all the boroughs.

          8                 MS. OSBORNE: The idea is utilize the

          9  services -- utilize New York City's infrastructure

         10  that already exists and then build upon it. That's

         11  how we can make something really big happen and be

         12  inclusive rather than spending hundreds of thousands

         13  of dollars in marketing, which no one has the money

         14  for.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And do you

         16  agree, do you think that there is a need for the

         17  Borough Presidents, for the tourism for the Borough

         18  Presidents' offices to do advertising and marketing

         19  for their borough?

         20                 MS. OSBORNE: We have worked, we work

         21  with the Economic Development Corporation on that,

         22  but I think it's very important that each borough

         23  take a little initiative to say we're special and

         24  these are the special things you can see, but we

         25  leave it to NYC And Company to get the word out
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          2  broader to New York City. I'm interested in just

          3  spreading the word --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: In Queens,

          5  that's what I'm asking you --

          6                 MS. OSBORNE: -- In Queens.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: -- Do you think

          8  there is a need to have your own funding source?

          9                 MS. STODDART: Yes.

         10                 MS. OSBORNE: It would be helpful,

         11  yes.

         12                 More is better.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 MS. OSBORNE: You're welcome.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'd like to

         17  recognize we've been joined by David Yassky and

         18  Council Member Tish James.

         19                 Call the next panel.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next panel

         21  will be the Alliance for the Arts, Randy

         22  Bourscheidt; Eva Taylor from ART New York; Cathy

         23  Giamo from Thalia Spanish Theatre; and, finally, the

         24  Chocolate Factory, Sheila Lewandowsky.

         25                 Sergeant, I think we'll need two more
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          2  chairs.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Good afternoon.

          4  Randy, would you like to start off?

          5                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Thank you.

          6                 Am I on?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, you're on.

          8  Do we have a copy of your testimony?

          9                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Yes, it's being

         10  given out.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right. Go

         12  ahead, start.

         13                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Thank you very much

         14  for the opportunity to address this important topic,

         15  promoting cultural tourism in the boroughs outside

         16  of Manhattan. I commend you for having this hearing,

         17  because it's a really important topic and I think we

         18  need to be constantly vigilant to try and understand

         19  how we can do a better job. It's a five-borough

         20  city, and maybe no one understands that better than

         21  the members of the City Council.

         22                 Under Mayor Bloomberg and with the

         23  support of the Council, the City has taken the first

         24  steps in a generation to bring New York's tourism

         25  marketing to an adequate level of funding.
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          2                 Much has been accomplished to attract

          3  visitors from opening offices in foreign cities

          4  around the world, to the newly announced Just Ask, a

          5  local campaign, which focuses on one of New York's

          6  greatest assets, New Yorkers.

          7                 Tourism is one of the City's most

          8  important industries and it is growing, but it is

          9  the cultural component which has led the way,

         10  consisting of eager visitors who typically travel

         11  farther, stay longer and spend more.

         12                 They are also more adventurous, more

         13  willing to go beyond Midtown to other parts of the

         14  City. Just parenthetically, I well remember being

         15  told years ago by Visitor Center staff, that they

         16  were struck by one pattern, US visitors coming in to

         17  ask how to avoid Harlem, foreign visitors asking how

         18  to get to Harlem and to Brooklyn and other boroughs.

         19                 A new study published by my

         20  organization, a study called "The Arts As An

         21  Industry," provides a unique insight into cultural

         22  tourism. By surveying visitors, we determined those

         23  tourists who came to New York primarily to enjoy our

         24  cultural attractions, we call them "arts motivated

         25  visitors." They are a powerful component of this
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          2  industry. We estimate that there were 7.5 million of

          3  these visitors in 2005, which was only four years

          4  after 9/11, and that they had an economic impact of

          5  more than $5 billion. This is just the start,

          6  however. Concerted marketing, which focuses on the

          7  great cultural institutions in other boroughs, and

          8  exciting art scenes in many neighborhoods, Red Hook,

          9  Williamsburg, Long Island City, the South Bronx,

         10  just to name a few, can increase the number of arts

         11  motivated visitors.

         12                 It can also persuade a great number

         13  of other visitors, those here to visit family and

         14  friends or to do business to become cultural

         15  consumers. Here are a few suggestions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's what we

         17  want to hear, suggestions, Randy. You know it.

         18                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: We can promote our

         19  cultural life in languages other than English to

         20  attract the international visitors who are pure gold

         21  in terms of spending and willingness to visit

         22  boroughs outside of Manhattan. And for that matter,

         23  to neighborhoods like Harlem and Chinatown, which

         24  are outside of Midtown, Harlem already gets half a

         25  million tourists a year, a good indication of the
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          2  interest that is already there.

          3                 The Alliance is preparing a cultural

          4  guide to Lower Manhattan in three languages,

          5  Chinese, Spanish and Japanese. We are very eager to

          6  have the means to cover the entire City in these and

          7  other languages.

          8                 We can work more closely with two

          9  State agencies, the MTA and the Empire State

         10  Development Corporation. Mass transit is not only

         11  efficient, it is also a safe and easy way for

         12  visitors to get to cultural destinations. There are

         13  some test cases in which MetroCards earn discounts

         14  in outer borough cultural venues, but we should do

         15  this comprehensively and Citywide. And we work

         16  together to get broader cultural information in the

         17  State's I Love New York Campaign. It's almost

         18  absent.

         19                 My third suggestion is that we can

         20  make sure that detailed long-term and comprehensive

         21  information about cultural happenings is readily

         22  available to potential tourists before they travel

         23  and to visitors while they're here.

         24                 In that regard, I should note that

         25  with generous support from the Council and the
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          2  Mayor, the Department of Cultural Affairs is working

          3  with the Alliance to relaunch our signature

          4  websites, NYC Arts and NYC Kids Arts, which are

          5  already the most complete guides to culture in the

          6  boroughs for New Yorkers and visitors alike.

          7                 We currently have in-depth profiles

          8  of 181 cultural venues and festivals outside of

          9  Manhattan, as well as a cultural calendar that lists

         10  641 arts events going out a year and a half.

         11                 The Alliance for the Arts and I

         12  believe the cultural community in general are eager

         13  to work more closely with NYC And Company, I Love

         14  New York and other agencies dedicated to increasing

         15  the number of tourists and encouraging them to

         16  participate in culture in every borough.

         17                 The leadership and commitment with

         18  the Mayor and partnership with the Council and the

         19  Governor make this the right time to promote the

         20  arts in Brooklyn, the Arts, Queens and Staten

         21  Island.

         22                 And if I can just add one further

         23  statement, Mr. Chairman, and it's an observation

         24  based on hearing testimony by the other speakers,

         25  and that is that the thing -- we used to say that
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          2  the thing most lacking in promoting the City was

          3  money. The Mayor's and the Council's new funding for

          4  NYC And Company goes a long way towards addressing

          5  that problem.

          6                 The second problem is having a really

          7  comprehensive view that gets down to the most

          8  detailed neighborhood level, and activates and

          9  utilizes the energy of cultural organizations,

         10  government officials, like Borough Presidents'

         11  offices, lots of civic and cultural organizations in

         12  every neighborhood in the City and I believe we have

         13  only begun to do that. I think it's great that

         14  boroughs like the Bronx, Brooklyn and Queens, Staten

         15  Island, we've heard good examples from all of them,

         16  are becoming more active. I think that we could go a

         17  long way, however, towards having a more coordinated

         18  approach toward reaching the domestic and

         19  international tourist market, and that's something

         20  that New Yorkers are the last in the country ever to

         21  do, to work together for one common goal.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Randy, before I

         23  let you go I just want to ask one quick question.

         24  And I appreciate, and I really enjoy your testimony.

         25  With the MTA, are you saying that there should be a
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          2  MetroCard that gets you on the train and a discount

          3  to culture institutions?

          4                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Well, I think there

          5  should be a comprehensive campaign that's

          6  coordinated by NYC And Company with the Transit

          7  Authority that makes it impossible for any tourist

          8  arriving in New York not to know that for $2 you can

          9  get anywhere, or almost anywhere, that gives you

         10  really good, easy to use, and in 37 languages,

         11  information about not only what's going on at the

         12  Queens Museum or the Jamaica Arts Center, but how

         13  long it takes to get there, what lines you take, and

         14  so forth. We don't have that yet. I can get that in

         15  Paris. I cannot get that yet in New York.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, what you're

         17  saying is that when you buy the MetroCard, we should

         18  have available what cultural institutions, what

         19  institutions there are on that line?

         20                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: There are lots of

         21  different ways you could organize that information.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm not clear on

         23  what you want us to push for. You know, what you

         24  really want the MTA -- like, what do you want us to

         25  lobby for, to get the MTA to do what?
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          2                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Well, I realize the

          3  MTA is a State agency, as I've said in the

          4  testimony.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, no, we have

          6  a great --

          7                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: You have a good --

          8  right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: The purpose of

         10  these hearings is to get something out of this, you

         11  know, to hear what you think we should do with the

         12  MTA.

         13                 And I've heard this several times but

         14  no one is clearly saying what they want the MTA to

         15  do.

         16                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Well, I went on the

         17  MTA website this morning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         19                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: And I brought my

         20  laptop with me, and here is the cultural promotion

         21  this morning on the MTA's website. There is a

         22  promotion for The Grinch That Stole Christmas, I'm

         23  certainly going to take advantage of that, and for

         24  four museums, the New York Transit Museum, I think

         25  they have a certain connection, they own it, Dyckman
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          2  Farm House Museum, on Upper Broadway, the Malcolm X

          3  and Betty Shabaz Memorial Education Center on Upper

          4  Broadway, and the New York Historical Society.

          5  Unless I'm missing something on the MTA website,

          6  that's it.

          7                 So, I would ask the Chairman of the

          8  MTA, or you know, there are some really good people

          9  on the SF (phonetic) and they want to do the right

         10  thing, but I think the Council can encourage them to

         11  work more closely with NYC And Company. NYC And

         12  Company, as we've heard today, and as we're seeing

         13  in the press, is getting its act together big time

         14  and they're doing incredibly exciting things.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I know.

         16                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: That is a huge leap

         17  forward. But that's just sort of one giant step. The

         18  other steps are working more closely with these

         19  great efforts in the boroughs, and especially

         20  working more closely with the MTA.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right. I

         22  understand what you're saying. Because I have my own

         23  ideas.

         24                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: I'm sorry to be so

         25  reticent and not tell you what I think but --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, the problem

          3  here that we're hearing is that we have to work, the

          4  MTA has to work with the boroughs in promoting

          5  what's going on in the boroughs, and we have to

          6  somehow come up with a program with the MTA, and

          7  that's the question that I'm having is what type

          8  program, because there are different types of

          9  programs going on. So, is it a discount, like, you

         10  know, you buy a MetroCard, and, you know, you get

         11  discounts on certain institutions along that subway

         12  line. You know, there's a lot of different ways of

         13  doing it.

         14                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: I think these

         15  campaigns, two for one or other benefits that act as

         16  an inducement for people to come, merely by showing

         17  your MetroCard, there have been a few modest efforts

         18  to try that out I think to make that a Citywide

         19  program.

         20                 New Yorkers as a people and New York

         21  government loves what I call "incrementalism." If

         22  you have a problem that affects 8 million people,

         23  come up with a solution that improves the lives of

         24  100,000 people and then you can go on to the next

         25  problem. I'm suggesting this be an approach that
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          2  addresses all 8 million New Yorkers.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We've been

          7  joined by Council Member Diana Reyna, and Tom White.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Chair. And I also would like to take the

         10  opportunity to thank the Chairperson for carrying

         11  the meeting as it relates to the Economic

         12  Development Committee, which I'm Chairman of. Not

         13  that I'm interested, but I had a very joyful morning

         14  because I was principal for the day at PS 96 in the

         15  district, so that's one of the reasons why I wasn't

         16  here for the full hearing. But I'm very much

         17  interested in cultural affairs. I noticed the things

         18  that you mentioned didn't relate to Queens, and I'm

         19  out in Queens, and I'd like to see and support the

         20  cultural activities because they're very, very

         21  important. Especially since this morning, when I

         22  went around PS 96, I saw the artistic value in the

         23  third graders, fourth graders, fifth graders and

         24  sixth graders, which has a lot of potential abstract

         25  art and things of that nature. So, it's very, very
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          2  important, in terms of the cultural arts community

          3  and the artistic community.

          4                 So, with that being said, my

          5  colleague, Council Member Reyna, do you have any

          6  questions?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you,

          8  Council Member White.

          9                 I just wanted to ask, as far as the

         10  North Brooklyn Region, you mentioned in your

         11  testimony briefly Williamsburg. I didn't get a

         12  chance to go through the whole testimony, if you can

         13  just share with me how Williamsburg is on the map of

         14  the artist community, and the main attractions?

         15                 Right now I know that Galapagos,

         16  which is a theater space, is on the verge of being

         17  evicted, and this was one of our first gems in

         18  Williamsburg, and to see them have to move out of

         19  the area is a testimony to all the gentrification

         20  that's happening and the market pressures. So that

         21  our artist community is going to have very little

         22  space, that they can continue to operate from. And I

         23  can only imagine that if we don't start connecting

         24  the tourism to the outer boroughs, that more of this

         25  is going to just continue.
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          2                 If there is any recommendations that

          3  you may have for us, as to how to prevent this so

          4  that we're ahead of the game, rather than standing

          5  on the sidelines and accepting some of these

          6  evictions with the artist communities? Because we

          7  want them to stay in the neighborhood. We want to

          8  nurture what they're doing. They were what I would

          9  consider the baby boomers of putting Williamsburg in

         10  the art and cultural world when it came to our

         11  community, and, you know, having had impoverished

         12  situations and now see it become one of the hottest

         13  places to be in, and it's contradictory to the whole

         14  vision as to what we wanted to continue to welcome.

         15                 So, I don't know if there is anything

         16  that you'd like to share that I can be proactive

         17  about in doing and working with you perhaps in order

         18  to secure these types of institutions?

         19                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Well, the question

         20  you ask raises very, very big issues, and there are

         21  other colleagues here who have very important things

         22  to say, but very briefly, it seems what's happened

         23  in Williamsburg is somewhat similar to what happened

         24  a generation earlier in SoHo, which is that artists,

         25  by creating an exciting community, revealed the
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          2  commercial possibilities and the desirability of

          3  neighborhoods and paid the penalty by being priced

          4  out.

          5                 Very complex problem, very complex

          6  solutions. But I think the one that is most germane

          7  to the topic of the hearing today is that when those

          8  collections of artists generate new cultural

          9  institutions, like Galapogos, Perogie and things

         10  like that, that those institutions, small as they

         11  are become part of the tourist attraction for those

         12  neighborhoods and that's a reason for you to reach

         13  out to your friends in government. I think you can

         14  tell from earlier testimony by Commissioner Levin

         15  today that she would be very sympathetic to the idea

         16  of trying to stabilize those institutions. That's

         17  probably more feasible than controlling the

         18  residential pattern of development in an entire

         19  neighborhood. But to go in and try and make sure

         20  that valuable cultural institutions which have grown

         21  up in their communities and serve them aren't forced

         22  out is something that I think the Cultural Affairs

         23  Department and the non-profit desk at EDC would be

         24  sympathetic towards considering.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. GIAIMO: Thank you. I'm Cathy

          3  Giaimo. I'm with Thalia Spanish Theatre. We are in

          4  Queens. Sunnyside, Long Island City. I've been there

          5  for 30 years. We're the only bilingual Hispanic

          6  Theater in the Borough.

          7                 I'm going to kind of throw away most

          8  of my testimony. I just want to talk about a few

          9  things that have come to mind while I've been

         10  listening. And one thing is, I think it is high

         11  time, this is in my testimony, it's high time we

         12  stop calling us the "outer borough." I think it

         13  would be really helpful if we had a campaign to just

         14  reminding people that New York City is five

         15  boroughs. I can't tell you how many people call to

         16  make reservations and then when they hear, oh,

         17  you're in Queens, I thought you were in New York

         18  City, and I have to say, no, we are in New York

         19  City, it's five boroughs. I'd love to see some sort

         20  of campaign, maybe NYC And Company. Are they still

         21  here? No. Oh, okay. You know, that would be a great

         22  campaign. Something that said, I love New York, I

         23  love all five boroughs of New York, would be really

         24  nice. We belong to NYC And Company, we belong to the

         25  Alliance of Resident Theatres of New York, we are
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          2  active with the Discover Queens, so we really try

          3  hard to promote ourselves to visitors outside of the

          4  borough.

          5                 A couple of things that I'd like to

          6  see, as far as the MTA, I'd love to see signage. I

          7  mean, we've been trying forever. When MoMA, Museum

          8  of Modern Art moved to Queens they got a sign in

          9  their subway station. Even though they're not even

         10  there anymore. We've been there 30 years, and we

         11  can't get the MTA to give us a sign in our subway

         12  station. So, you know, just a little bitty sign, or

         13  even DOT some signage on streets.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We agree with

         15  you.

         16                 MS. GIAIMO: Turn right here.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: It's a problem

         18  all over the City.

         19                 MS. GIAIMO: Yes. It's infuriating.

         20                 The other thing that MTA could

         21  consider is reducing its advertising rates on the

         22  subways, because it's absolutely out of the question

         23  for most of us to advertise on the subway. And not

         24  only that, you can't choose which subway line you

         25  want to advertise on, because we've looked into it.
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          2  They say you advertise and you're going to go

          3  wherever we put you. I think that may be a helpful

          4  thing that maybe DCA could work with. In the past

          5  the Borough President's Office used to have money

          6  for things like we used to advertise on buses,

          7  because of tourism grant money we used to get

          8  through the Borough President's Office and the

          9  Mayor, under Mayor Dinkins, used to give money for

         10  that too, and a little of that goes a long way. I

         11  mean, it would really help.

         12                 My other gripe would be, maybe doing

         13  something about press coverage. Because most of us,

         14  the only time we get listed in the Daily News, in

         15  the Daily News Queens section, you know any other

         16  newspaper we're only in the Queens section, and so

         17  nobody really, if you're not going to go to Queens

         18  or you don't live in the borough, you're not going

         19  to hear about us. The Queens section only comes out

         20  in Queens. The Brooklyn section only in Brooklyn.

         21  And I'd like to talk, maybe sit down with the press

         22  and tell them they have to be more inclusive of the

         23  outer boroughs, and even send critics out, do some

         24  feature stories and treat us like we're part of the

         25  City also. That's all I have to say. Thanks.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That was

          3  beautiful. That was very good comments.

          4                 MS. GIAIMO: Thank you. You see, now

          5  you're giving me something to work on. That's what

          6  we like - concrete recommendations, ideas that we

          7  could take and fight for you. That's what these

          8  hearings are all about. For you to give us ideas so

          9  we could advocate in the City Council. Because we

         10  are the people's house.

         11                 Next.

         12                 MS. TAYLOR: Hi. Good afternoon. My

         13  name is Eba Taylor, and I am the Director of

         14  Institutional and Institutional and Individual

         15  Giving at the Alliance of Resident Theaters/New

         16  York, A.R.T./New York, and I'm here today

         17  representing our Executive Director, Virginia

         18  Louloudes, who could not be here, but she sends her

         19  best to all the Council members.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Tell her we miss

         21  her.

         22                 MS. TAYLOR: I will.

         23                 I would like to thank Council Member

         24  Recchia and Council Member White for inviting

         25  A.R.T./New York to testify today on Cultural Tourism
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          2  Outside of Manhattan, and extend our appreciation to

          3  both committees for their work to ensure that

          4  culture in the outer boroughs, and I apologize, in

          5  all of the boroughs, receive the attention that they

          6  deserve.

          7                 As some of you may know, A.R.T./New

          8  York was founded in 1972 by 49 Off Off Broadway

          9  Companies.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We know all

         11  about A.R.T./New York. How can we help? See, we want

         12  to know what we could do to help the artist in the

         13  outer boroughs. That's what we want to know. We want

         14  to know concrete recommendations. What do you need?

         15                 MS. TAYLOR: I can jump to that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Great. Because I

         17  can sit here and listen and stuff, you know, but we

         18  want to go out. Because afterwards we listen to this

         19  transcript and we sit down, my Committee, and me and

         20  Tom White, and we're going to sit down and really

         21  say, okay, what do we have to do? What goal do we

         22  have to do? How can we really help?

         23                 You know, these hearings, believe it

         24  or not, they mean a lot to us. And we take what you

         25  say and we analyze it, because this is how we get
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          2  our ideas. And you know, everything comes down to

          3  the budget, and how we can maybe come up with new

          4  initiatives; do we need a marketing initiative? Do

          5  we have to sit down with the MTA? You know, like we

          6  heard about the advertising. Nobody ever brought

          7  that up to us.

          8                 MS. TAYLOR: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is the

         10  first time we are ever hearing about the

         11  advertising, how the MTA will not let you advertise

         12  on certain lines in certain areas. So, maybe that's

         13  something we could work out, that they could give a

         14  discount rate to cultural groups.  Maybe we could

         15  work out how we could advertise in certain lines and

         16  that's what we want to hear, recommendations on how

         17  we could help you.

         18                 MS. TAYLOR: To follow-up on that,

         19  definitely that would assist our members. We have

         20  400, 200 of those have budgets of under $100,000, so

         21  anything that can decrease their cost and increase

         22  their exposure is going to help.

         23                 But to jump to our recommendations,

         24  essentially in order for tourist to find groups,

         25  like Thalia and like the Chocolate Factory, we need
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          2  higher visibility. And clearly that's been discussed

          3  before at this hearing and I'm sure at other points

          4  in the history of the City. But essentially to

          5  provide increased exposure, what we would like to

          6  see is an increased effort on the part of the

          7  Council members to essentially speak on behalf of

          8  the cultural organizations within their districts,

          9  so that there is like a culture month within each

         10  district and the City Council member highlights

         11  that. So, using, someone mentioned before the

         12  infrastructure that's in place, if you can use the

         13  infrastructure in place, the City Council members,

         14  the contact information that each of you as a member

         15  of the City Council has, to reach out to your

         16  constituents and tell them I know that you live in

         17  my district, I know that you want to go to things in

         18  your district, and here are things that you can go

         19  to.

         20                 That's really what we can recommend,

         21  for the Council members to take a more proactive

         22  part in really highlighting what's in their

         23  district.  Are theaters mentioned, really more money

         24  is always great and no one is going to argue that,

         25  but it's more than money. It really needs to be a
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          2  full-level approach to highlight what's in the

          3  borough. So, aside from asking City Council members

          4  to really highlight who is in their district, that's

          5  one of the recommendations that we're able to come

          6  up with. We'll definitely look forward to working

          7  with both committees to try and come up with more

          8  solutions, but for now that's what we suggest.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Chocolate Factory.

         12                 MS. LEWANDOWSKI: All right, I'll

         13  throw this aside.

         14                 Well, first of all, it's my birthday

         15  too.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Oh, I didn't

         17  know that. You and Tim Thayer born on the same day.

         18  God bless.

         19                 MS. LEWANDOWSKI: I'd like to second a

         20  couple of things that were said as suggestions. One

         21  is I think there has to be greater collaboration

         22  between NYC And Company and the Borough Tourism

         23  Councils. As a small organization, joining NYC And

         24  Company is not a possibility. However, if I join the

         25  Queens Tourism Council, I should have access to some
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          2  of the marketing that NYC And Company does.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You hear that,

          4  NYC?

          5                 Because I've been complaining about

          6  their fees.

          7                 MS. LEWANDOWSKI: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You are the

          9  perfect example. You run a great program. You're in

         10  Queens. You know, I believe if people, these

         11  tourists will come to you because you have such a

         12  good reputation, but you can't afford it. And this

         13  is why we have these hearings to address this. You

         14  brought up the perfect thing. That's a good idea. I

         15  like that, if you belong to the tourism, then you

         16  should have access, entre into that.

         17                 MS. LEWANDOWSKI: And I went to the

         18  NYC And Company website before coming here. There

         19  were a couple of things that I noticed. One is they

         20  do market themselves as the official marketing

         21  machine basically of New York City. However, that

         22  they don't do that for people who are not members.

         23  They are not marketing all of New York City. So, I

         24  think if you're going to say you're the marketing

         25  machine, you need to be doing it, and you can do
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          2  that with links to the Queens Tourism Council, you

          3  can do that with links to the A.R.T./New York

          4  website. You can find other ways to market all of

          5  New York City.

          6                 Transportation obviously is a big

          7  issue in the other areas of New York City, and so I

          8  think signage is very important from the time that

          9  people come up out of the subway stations. I think

         10  the directional, the compass points that they're

         11  going to be trying in New York City is a great idea,

         12  and it would be great to get that also in the other

         13  places of New York City, I'm afraid to say outer

         14  boroughs over here. Because people come up out of

         15  the subway and they say which way do I go? And I

         16  have to say you'll see a church on the corner on the

         17  next block. But if there was a compass point, I

         18  could say face north, walk a block.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And some people

         20  feel embarrassed to ask the question where is. So,

         21  instead of going an extra yard, they go around.

         22  Because that's what happens in Staten Island a lot.

         23                 Go ahead.

         24                 MS. LEWANDOWSKI: And I grew up on

         25  Staten Island, and I'm very aware you have the issue
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          2  of cars. We have to address signage for cars as

          3  well. BAM does a terrific job on that in Brooklyn.

          4  That's a great example to look at, if you're coming

          5  off of the different highways. We have a big problem

          6  with that in Long Island City, people miss that

          7  first exist and they end up over by the UPS depot in

          8  Maspeth, which is not a welcome place.

          9                 So, I mean those are my suggestions.

         10  You have other comments in my testimony.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Council Member Diana Reyna, do you

         14  have a question?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: No, I just

         16  wanted to find out how do I get access to a listing

         17  of the cultural institutions that exist in my

         18  district? Because I don't have anything that

         19  complies, and for my staff to literally get this

         20  formulated would mean that I would have to have a

         21  day where they would walk the streets. And a lot of

         22  these places are underground. You know, they are not

         23  your typical museum or gallery with signage. You

         24  know, they're starting off. Some are more

         25  established. So that it would be helpful if larger
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          2  organizations like yourself, who this particular

          3  industry already knows to get in touch with you,

          4  that then you start formulating such a list and then

          5  get it to us, because I would love to host a month

          6  dedicated to our cultural institutions.

          7                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Can I go second?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, Randy,

          9  because I know you have a solution to this. You want

         10  us to give you a grant and you'll do one for every

         11  City Council. You do something like this --

         12                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: I already do it, and

         13  you've already given me the money.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         15                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: And I'm more than

         16  thankful for it.

         17                 We are in the process at the Alliance

         18  for the Arts of updating our so-called Council

         19  briefing books, which they weigh about six pounds.

         20  All of the information is on line, too, but it's

         21  sort of handy to have it in print form as well, and

         22  it's a loose-leaf binder with literally about four-

         23  or five-hundred pages. It includes maps that are

         24  Citywide, boroughwide, and district maps, and the

         25  district maps indicate all of the organizations that
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          2  receive City funding through DCA, and there is a lot

          3  of information about them, profiles, and so forth.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And when will

          5  those books be given out?

          6                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Well, my Wagner

          7  fellow starts next week. She'll be working on it

          8  right away. Probably by the end of the year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just want to

         10  share with you that if they're not receiving DCA,

         11  then they're not going to appear in this report.

         12                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: You're right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You're right.

         14                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: But I assure you

         15  this is going to be a much more complete list than

         16  anybody else is going to be able to give you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is the

         18  closest you think? You know, if they don't belong to

         19  A.R.T./New York or some organization, then it's very

         20  hard for us to find out who they are. But if they

         21  don't, then they should contact you. We'll work it

         22  to see how. Because if you have this problem, then

         23  we want to get them on the map.

         24                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: The list is also

         25  drawn from New York State Council on the Arts, which
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          2  funds a few more groups in the City than Cultural

          3  Affairs Department, and we also draw from the list

          4  like A.R.T./New York's.  So, it's about as complete

          5  as it can be. Where it really falls down is federal

          6  organizations of the sort that are being born all

          7  the time, especially in a neighborhood like that in

          8  your district. It's very hard to stay on top of

          9  that.

         10                 And it also, our plan over the next

         11  year, we have not done it yet, but our plan is to

         12  include commercial venues, such as cabarets and

         13  other organizations which are not eligible for City

         14  support, but our vital parts of the City's cultural

         15  scene.

         16                 MS. TAYLOR: I would just like to add,

         17  Council Member Reyna, we actually do have a

         18  breakdown of our member theaters. We cannot speak

         19  for all the cultural groups within the districts,

         20  but for our member theaters we do provide a list of

         21  the groups within the districts and I'd be happy to

         22  send that to you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: By member

         24  district?

         25                 MS. TAYLOR: By member district, yes.
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          2  And Galapagos actually is a member of A.R.T./New

          3  York and it's the first time I've heard about their

          4  situation. I'd be interested in learning more about

          5  that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right. I

          9  want to thank everyone for coming today. This is

         10  going to conclude our hearing. I want to thank

         11  everyone for coming and have a happy birthday to the

         12  Chocolate Factory. But I just want you to know that

         13  everything that has come out is greatly appreciated

         14  by my Committee and I'd like to thank my staff,

         15  everyone who helped put this together. Thank you.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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